IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHELLE MACOLA and INGE QUIGLEY,
Appellants,

L.T. No.: 04-10436

Case No.: SC05-1021

VS.

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES INSURANCE COMPANY, Appellee.

APPELLANT MICHELLE MACOLA'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Proceeding to Review Questions Certified from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit

Submitted by:

SHEA T. MOXON
Florida Bar No.: 0012564
ANGELA E. RODANTE
Florida Bar No.: 0092509
SWOPE, RODANTE P.A.
1234 East 5th Avenue
Tampa, Florida 33605
(813) 273-0017
Attorneys for Appellant Michelle Macola

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is a proceeding to review two certified questions from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit pursuant to Rule 9.150, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. The Appellants, Michelle Macola and Inge Quigley, each brought an action against the Appellee, Government Employees Insurance Company (hereafter "GEICO"), asserting a common-law cause of action for third-party bad faith. Both actions were consolidated in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida, which subsequently a granted summary judgment in favor of GEICO disposing of the Appellants' claims. The Appellants appealed from that summary judgment to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, and it is from that appeal that the Court of Appeals has certified two questions for resolution by this Court. Macola v. Gov't Employees Ins. Co., 410 F.3d 1359, 1365 (11th Cir. 2005).

The Clerk of the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida has not provided the parties with an index to the record on appeal. Herein, a citation to the record will use the District Court's docket number for the pleading, paper, order, or transcript cited, which will be indicated by the abbreviation "Dkt." followed by the docket number. Exhibits attached to pleadings, motions, or transcripts will be indicated by docket number, the abbreviation "Exh.," and the letter used to identify the exhibit.

A. Statement of Facts.

On May 18, 1999, Ms. Quigley's now deceased husband, Frances Quigley, caused an automobile collision by attempting a left turn in front of an oncoming vehicle driven by the Appellant Michelle Macola. (Dkt. 137, p. 3; Dkt. 145, p. 2; Dkt. 147, Exh. E, pp. 1, 6). Both Mr. Quigley and Ms. Macola sustained injuries and were taken to a hospital. (Dkt. 147, Exh. E, p. 1).

Mr. Quigley was insured under a policy issued by GEICO with bodily injury liability limits of \$300,000.00 per person / \$300,000.00 per occurrence and a property damage limit of \$100,000.00 per occurrence. (Dkt. 137, p. 3; Dkt. 145, p. 2). GEICO received notice of the accident the day after it occurred. (Dkt. 147, Exh. E, p. 1). On that day Mr. Quigley's wife, the Appellant Inge Quigley, contacted GEICO and provided information about Mr. Quigley's injuries. Mrs. Quigley told GEICO that Ms. Macola's injuries were even worse than Mr. Quigley's. (Dkt. 147, Exh. E, p. 2). GEICO assigned Dale Junco as adjuster of the claim. (Dkt. 153, p. 6).

Ms. Macola retained Michael A. Roe, Esq. to represent her in connection with the accident. (Dkt. 141, pp. 13 – 14). On May 24, 1999, Mr. Roe's office faxed GEICO a letter of representation which included a statutory request for insurance information, including a copy of Mr. Quigley's insurance policy. (Dkt.

147, Exh. E, p. 4; Dkt. 141, Defendant's Exh. 1).

For the next two and a half months, Ms. Junco concentrated her efforts on investigating whether Ms. Macola may have been speeding at the time of the accident. (Dkt. 147, Exh. E, pp. 4, 6, 7 –9, 11 - 15). The investigation ultimately established that Ms. Macola had not been speeding and that Mr. Quigley clearly did not have enough room to make his left turn safely. (Dkt. 147, Exh. E, p. 15).

More than three and a half months after the accident, Ms. Junco still had obtained none of Ms. Macola's medical records and had not requested a release to obtain them. (Dkt. 147, Exh. E, p. 16). Ms. Junco did call Mr. Roe on September 2, 1999. Mr. Roe told her that Ms. Macola had multiple surgeries and would require more, and that she was still out of work. (Dkt. 147, Exh. E, pp. 16 - 17). He said he would send what medical records he had to see if they could enter into a negotiation, and that the case was worth the policy limits. (Dkt. 147, Exh. E, p. 17). Later that month, Mr. Roe told Ms. Junco he was preparing a partial package of medical records to send her and that it was a policy limits case. (Dkt. 147, Exh. E, p. 18). October 15, 1999 was the first time Ms. Junco asked Mr. Roe for an authorization to obtain Ms. Macola's medical records. (Dkt. 147, Exh. E, p. 20). She sent Mr. Roe a medical records authorization a few days later, and he returned it to her signed within two days. (Dkt. 147, Exh. E, p. 20).

On October 19, 1999, Mr. Roe faxed and mailed a letter to Ms. Junco which made a settlement offer. (Dkt. 141, Defendant's Exh. 7). The letter described how the accident had occurred and proceeded to summarize the injuries Ms. Macola had suffered as well the numerous surgeries she had undergone to treat them. Her hospital bills totaled \$179,368.03. (Dkt. 141, Defendant's Exh. 7, pp. 1 – 5). The traffic crash report and a stack of medical records were enclosed with the letter. The letter also claimed an outstanding property damage loss of \$1,377.81. (Dkt. 141, Defendant's Exh. 7, p. 6).

Under the heading "SETTLEMENT OFFER," Mr. Roe's letter stated that Ms. Macola was willing to accept Mr. Quigley's bodily injury policy limit of \$300,000.00 plus the \$1,377.81 for property damage in full settlement. In order to accept the offer, Ms. Junco would have to arrange for Mr. Roe to receive a tender of these full sums in his office within twenty-one days. Within that time GEICO would also have to provide Mr. Roe with a copy of Mr. Quigley's insurance policy and an affidavit establishing that there was no other insurance coverage available to Mr. Quigley and that no other person was derivatively liable for Mr. Quigley's negligence. (Dkt. 141, Defendant's Exh. 7, pp. 6 – 7).

On November 8, 2003, the day before the deadline for Mr. Roe's settlement offer, Ms. Junco wrote back promising to have the \$300,000.00 of bodily injury coverage delivered to Mr. Roe that day, but disputing the amount he had demanded

for property damage. Ms. Junco also professed not to understand who was supposed to sign the affidavit affirming that there was no other coverage. (Dkt. 141, Defendant's Exh. 9). Later that day, a field representative of GEICO delivered a draft for \$300,000.00 and a release to Mr. Roe's office. (Dkt. 141, p. 52; Dkt. 156, p. 37). The representative had added the notation "This is not a release of property damage" to the release. (Dkt. 156, p. 37).

November 9, 1999 was the twenty-first day following Mr. Roe's settlement demand letter. By this date, Mr. Roe had not received from GEICO any payment for Ms. Macola's property damage, a copy of Mr. Quigley's policy, or an affidavit that there was no additional coverage or derivatively liable parties. (Dkt. 141, pp. 67 - 68, 88 - 89, 91, 109 and Defendant's Exh. 9; Dkt. 153, p. 205).

The first time Ms. Junco made any effort to notify the Quigleys about Ms. Macola's settlement offer was on November 10, 1999, after the offer had expired. (Dkt. 147, Exh. E, p. 25; Dkt. 153, pp. 199 – 200). There is a dispute between the testimony of Ms. Junco and Ms. Quigley as to what was said during this conversation. Ms. Junco claims that she explained all of the terms of Mr. Roe's settlement offer to Ms. Quigley, and that Ms. Quigley replied that she was unable to contribute any funds towards settlement. (Dkt. 147, Exh. E, p. 25; Dkt. 153, pp. 201 – 202). Ms. Quigley has testified that Ms. Junco did not explain all the terms of the settlement offer, inform her that the Quigleys could personally pay some or

all the claim for property damage to settle the case, or otherwise explain any steps that could have been taken to avoid an excess judgment. (Dkt. 148, pp. 34 - 35, 82 - 83, 95 - 96, 116 – 119).

Ms. Junco called Mr. Roe's office and left messages requesting that he call her on five occasions from November 9, 1999 through January 3, 2000. He did not return her calls. (Dkt. 147, Exh. E, pp. 24 - 27).

On February 15, 2000, Mr. Roe sent the \$300,000.00 draft back to GEICO, together with a cover letter rejecting the counteroffer Ms. Junco had made in her letter of November 8, 1999. (Dkt. 141, Defendant's Exh. 12). That day, Ms. Macola filed suit against Mr. Quigley in the Circuit Court of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida. The suit asserted a claim for damages for Ms. Macola's personal injuries, but not for her property damage. (Dkt. 137, p. 3; Dkt. 145, p. 2). GEICO assigned counsel to defend Mr. Quigley. (Dkt. 137, p. 3; Dkt. 145, p. 2). While this litigation was pending, Mr. Quigley passed away and the Appellant Inge Quigley, as the personal representative of his estate, was substituted as the defendant. (Dkt. 137, p. 4; Dkt. 145, p. 3).

GEICO filed a declaratory judgment action against Ms. Macola in the same state Circuit Court, seeking a declaration that Ms. Macola's tort claims had been settled. On January 5, 2001, the Circuit Court granted summary judgment for Ms. Macola. (Dkt. 138, Exh. A). The Second District Court of Appeal of Florida

affirmed the summary judgment without an opinion in <u>GEICO General Ins. Co. v.</u> <u>Macola</u>, 816 So.2d 618 (Table) (Fla. 2nd DCA 2002). (Dkt. 138, Exh. B).

Paul T. Cardillo, Esq. represented Mrs. Quigley as personal counsel during the tort litigation. (Dkt. 176, p. 2). In July of 2000, Mr. Cardillo submitted a statutory Civil Remedy Notice of Insurer Violation to the Treasurer of the State of Florida, Department of Insurance. (Dkt. 137, pp. 3-4; Dkt. 145, p. 2; Dkt. 147, Exh. M; Dkt. 176, p. 2). This notice alleged, "GEICO failed to settle with the injured party for policy limits when they had the opportunity to do so." (Dkt. 147, Exh. M). Within sixty days after the notice was filed, GEICO sent Mr. Cardillo a check for \$300,000.00. (Dkt. 137, p. 4; Dkt. 145, p. 2; Dkt. 147, Exh. N; Dkt. 176, p. 2). The check was never deposited or cashed. (Dkt. 176, p. 2).

Ms. Macola's tort case proceeded to trial. On July 8, 2002, a final judgment was entered against Mr. Quigley's estate in the amount of \$1,541,941.61 with interest. (Dkt. 137, p. 4; Dkt. 145, p. 3; Dkt. 147, Exh. P). On August 12, 2003, another final judgment was entered against the Quigley estate awarding Ms. Macola attorney's fees of \$212,500.00 with interest. (Dkt. 137, pp. 4 – 5; Dkt. 145, p. 3; Dkt. 147, Exh. R).

B. Proceedings in the Federal Courts.

In August of 2002, Appellant Michelle Macola filed a complaint in the Circuit Court of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit asserting a cause of action for third-

party bad faith against GEICO under the common law of Florida. (Dkt. 3). The complaint alleged that GEICO breached its common-law duty of good faith to its insured, Francis Quigley, by failing to settle Ms. Macola's claim against Mr. Quigley within the policy limits when it could have and should have done so, failing to communicate to Mr. Quigley with complete candor and honesty, failing to timely advise Mr. Quigley of the likelihood of an excess verdict against him and of any steps he could have taken to avoid an excess verdict, and failing to communicate all settlement opportunities to Mr. Quigley within a reasonable time after they were made. (Dkt. 3, pp. 3-4). GEICO removed the suit to the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida (Dkt. 1, 2) and filed an answer denying liability. (Dkt. 8).

On June 27, 2003, Appellant Inge Quigley, as personal representative of the estate of Francis E. Quigley, filed suit against GEICO in the District Court for the Middle District of Florida, asserting a claim for third-party bad faith under the common law of Florida. Ms. Quigley's complaint was based on the same facts as those underlying Ms. Macola's complaint. (Dkt. 94, Exh. A). The District Court consolidated the two actions. (Dkt. 103). GEICO filed its answer and affirmative defenses to Ms. Quigley's complaint on September 3, 2003. (Dkt. 106).

As its fifth affirmative defense, GEICO alleged that any alleged acts of bad faith had been cured pursuant to section 624.155, Florida Statutes (2001), because

Mr. Quigley had served a Civil Remedy Notice of Insurer Violation alleging that GEICO had committed bad faith and within sixty days of that notice GEICO had paid what it claimed to be "all contractual damages due." (Dkt. 106, pp. 5 – 6; Dkt. 109, pp. 5 – 6; Dkt. 115, pp. 4 - 5). Based on this affirmative defense, GEICO filed two separate motions for judgment on the pleadings against the Appellants. (Dkt. 136, 142). GEICO also filed a motion for final summary judgment against both Appellants, in which GEICO argued that it had not committed bad faith as a matter of law and that it was entitled to summary judgment based on its fifth affirmative defense. (Dkt. 143).

The trial court entered an order ruling that GEICO's motions for judgment on the pleadings would be denied, but the arguments raised in those motions would be considered in connection with GEICO's motion for summary judgment. (Dkt. 161). Subsequently, the trial court directed the Appellants to respond only to that portion of GEICO's summary judgment motion regarding Quigley's filing of the civil remedy notice. (Dkt. 193, pp. 45, 47, 49, 65). The Appellants subsequently filed written responses to GEICO's motion as to that issue. (Dkt. 174, 178).

On January 6, 2004, the trial entered an order granting GEICO's motion for summary judgment based on GEICO's fifth affirmative defense. (Appendix A; Dkt. 180). The order held that when Ms. Quigley filed the civil remedy notice she thereby made an election of remedies in favor of the statutory remedy for bad faith,

as a result of which both plaintiffs were estopped from pursuing a common-law action for bad faith. (Appendix A, p. 11; Dkt. 180, p. 11). Alternatively, the trial court held that Mr. Quigley had obtained full satisfaction of his claim for bad faith against GEICO by invoking the statutory curative process, and that, as a result, neither plaintiff could pursue the common-law remedy for bad faith. (Appendix A, pp. 11 – 12; Dkt. 180, pp. 11 – 12). The trial court's order did not address GEICO's argument that it had not committed bad faith as a matter of law. Judgment was entered for GEICO against the Appellants. (Dkt. 181).

Both Appellants timely appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. (Dkt. 185, 189, 191). After briefing was completed and oral argument held, the Court of Appeals remanded jurisdiction to the trial court for the limited purpose of determining whether there were any material issues of fact with respect to whether GEICO had committed bad faith. (Appendix C; Dkt. 200). After each party filed a memorandum as to that issue (Dkt. 206, 208, 210¹, 213), the trial court entered an order finding that there were genuine issues of fact with respect to bad faith, and therefore the question of bad faith could not be resolved on summary judgment. (Appendix D; Dkt. 215). Jurisdiction then returned to the Court of Appeals.

_

¹ Instead of a memorandum, GEICO filed a second motion for summary judgment. (Dkt. 210). The trial court entered an order ruling that the motion would be denied as unnecessary and construed as a memorandum. (Dkt. 211).

The Court of Appeals issued its opinion certifying two questions to this Court on June 6, 2005. Macola v. Government Employees Ins. Co., 410 F.3d 1359 (11th Cir. 2005). The opinion holds that the trial court erred in ruling that Quigley's filing of a civil remedy noticed constituted an election of remedies. 410 F.3d at 1364. It then certifies the following two questions to this Court:

- (1) IN THE CONTEXT OF A THIRD PARTY BAD FAITH CLAIM WHERE THERE IS A POSSIBILITY OF AN EXCESS JUDGMENT, DOES AN INSURER "CURE" ANY BAD FAITH UNDER § 624.155 WHEN, IN RESPONSE TO A CIVIL REMEDY NOTICE, IT TIMELY TENDERS THE POLICY LIMITS AFTER THE INITIATION OF A LAWSUIT AGAINST ITS INSURED BUT BEFORE THE ENTRY OF AN EXCESS JUDGMENT?
- (2) IF SO, DOES SUCH A CURE OF THE STATUTORY BAD FAITH CLAIM CONSTITUTE A FULL SATISFACTION OF THE JUDGMENT SUCH THAT THE INSURED AND DERIVATIVE INJURED THIRD PARTIES ARE BARRED FROM BRINGING A COMMON LAW BAD FAITH CLAIM TO RECOVER THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE POLICY LIMITS AND THE EXCESS JUDGMENT?

410 F.3d at 1365.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court should answer the first certified question in the negative. When a statutory civil remedy notice has been served alleging that an insurer has committed bad faith, the cure provision of section 624.155(3)(d), Florida Statutes (2004) requires the insurer within sixty days to either pay the damages or correct the circumstances giving rise to the violation. In the third-party context, an insurer

does not pay the damages or correct the circumstances amounting to bad faith by tendering a check for only the policy limits to its insured without settling the underlying claim.

The main element of damages in third-party bad faith is the excess judgment entered against the insured. Therefore, in order to satisfy the cure requirement of section 624.155(3)(d) in the third-party context, the insurer must pay the excess amount of any judgment entered against the insured if one has been entered, or, when no excess judgment has yet been entered, correct the circumstances giving rise to the bad faith claim by settling the underlying claim against the insured. For the insurer to merely send a check for its policy limits to its insured, without settling the underlying claim, does nothing to protect the insured from the entry of an excess judgment, and so does not correct the circumstances amounting to bad faith.

The Court should also answer the second certified question in the negative. For an insurer to tender a check for its policy limits to its insured in response to a civil remedy notice does not satisfy any excess judgment that is entered against the insured, because an excess judgment is by definition greater than the policy limits.

Also, the insurer's tender of its policy limits in response to a civil remedy notice does not constitute a full satisfaction of the damages available in a common-law claim for third-party bad faith. A party who pursues or attempts to invoke one

type of remedy does not thereby obtain full satisfaction of the claim if there is another, consistent remedy that provides for the recovery of additional amounts or elements of damages. Even if it can be said that the insured has made some type of recovery under the statutory remedy for bad faith when the insurer has tendered the policy limits in response to a civil remedy notice (although the insured in this case never cashed or deposited the check), such a recovery would not cover any of the damages recoverable in a common-law bad faith action. These damages consist primarily of the excess judgment, which by definition is in excess of the policy limits. Therefore, the tender of the policy limits does not satisfy a common-law claim for third-party bad faith.

Additionally, the cure provision of section 624.155(3)(d) should not be construed in such a manner that a cure under the statute would act as a bar to any common-law remedy for third-party bad faith as well as the statutory remedy. Such a construction has no support in Florida case law or in the language of the statute, and would be contrary to well established principles of statutory construction.

ARGUMENT

FIRST CERTIFIED QUESTION: GEICO'S TENDER OF THE POLICY LIMITS IN RESPONSE TO THE CIVIL REMEDY NOTICE WAS NOT AN ADEQUATE CURE OF ANY BAD FAITH FOR THE PURPOSES OF SECTION 624.155(3)(D), FLORIDA STATUTES (2003)

The first question certified by the Court of Appeals is:

(1) IN THE CONTEXT OF A THIRD PARTY BAD FAITH CLAIM WHERE THERE IS A POSSIBILITY OF AN EXCESS JUDGMENT, DOES AN INSURER "CURE" ANY BAD FAITH UNDER § 624.155 WHEN, IN RESPONSE TO A CIVIL REMEDY NOTICE, IT TIMELY TENDERS THE POLICY LIMITS AFTER THE INITIATION OF A LAWSUIT AGAINST ITS INSURED BUT BEFORE THE ENTRY OF AN EXCESS JUDGMENT?

Macola, 420 F.3d at 1365. The Court should answer this question in the negative, because in the third-party context a tender of only the policy limits is not sufficient to pay the damages caused by a bad faith failure to settle a claim against the insured or to cure the circumstances that gave rise to a bad faith failure to settle. To properly cure a bad faith failure to settle in the third-party context, the insurer must either pay the amount of any judgment entered against its insured in excess of the policy limits, or, when no excess judgment has yet been entered, settle the claim against the insured so as to prevent the entry of an excess judgment.

A. Standard of Review.

Because the first certified question is phrased as a pure question of law, the

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