IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC05-1021

MICHELLE MACOLA, and INGE QUIGLEY, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Francis E. Quigley, deceased,

Appellants,

VS.

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellee.

ON TWO CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

AMENDED INITIAL CONSOLIDATED ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES INSURANCE COMPANY

B. RICHARD YOUNG

Florida Bar No.: 442682 **STEPHEN D. GILL**

Florida Bar No.: 542091

Young, Bill, Fugett & Roumbos, P.A.

P.O. Drawer 1070

Pensacola, Florida 32591-1070

(850) 432-2222 telephone

Attorneys for Appellee GEICO

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

Due process of law implies the right of the person affected thereby to be present before the tribunal which pronounces judgment upon the question of life, liberty, or property, in its most comprehensive sense; to be heard, by testimony or otherwise, and to have the right of controverting, by proof, every material fact which bears on the question of right in the matter involved. If any question of fact or liability be conclusively presumed against him, this is not due process of law.

In declaring a statute that created an arbitrary presumption violative of the principles of due process, the United States Supreme Court discussed the specific terms of the statute and declared:

"[T]he facts so to be presumed are as uncertain and vague as the terms 'fraudulent' and 'fraud' contrasted with 'fairly,' 'legally,' 'honestly,' and 'in accordance with law,' when used to describe the management of a bank. [citation omitted] Nor is the generality of the presumption aided by the allegations of accusation. The indictment merely follows the general words of the statute without specifying facts to disclose the nature or circumstances of the charge." Manley v. State of Georgia, 279 U.S. 1, 6, 49 S.Ct. 215, 217, 73 L.Ed. 575, 578 (U.S. 1929).

In the case at hand, the language of the statute in question is "fairly" and "honestly." The civil remedy notice filed does nothing more than recite the language of the statute in an attempt to declare that GEICO failed to act "fairly and honestly" toward Quigley. To establish a standard for cure pursuant to 624.155(3)(d) that requires GEICO to pay whatever the injured third party claimant or insured demand, prejudgment, creates an unconstitutional presumption of bad faith and violates the due process clause of the United States Constitution. On the other hand, it is perfectly consistent with the rights of the contracting

parties and the principles of due process to declare that the insurer must, in response to a CRN, tender to the injured plaintiff or to the insured the sums claimed as damages up to an amount not exceeding the limits of liability of the policy.

Macola and Quigley contend that the only method by which an insurer may "cure" a claim of bad faith under section 624.155 within the statutory 60 day window of opportunity in the context of a third party bad faith claim when the CRN is served before the entry of an excess judgment is to roll back the hands of time and somehow settle the claim based on the third party plaintiff's original settlement demand. See Macola Principal Brief, p. 21; see also Quigley Principal Brief, p.22. Macola and Quigley's argument seeks to create a standard for prejudgment cure of a section 624.155 claim that is both arbitrary and at the whim of the complaining party.⁸ Should this Court accept Macola and Quigley's argument, GEICO would have been required at the time the CRN was served on July 11, 2000, to settle Macola's claim against Quigley on the terms of Macola's original offer. This proposition defies reason and falls outside the realm of logical discourse. First, both Macola and her attorney, Roe, made clear that as of July 11,

_

⁸ GEICO respectfully submits that adopting Macola and Quigley's argument would result in no standard, with the cure being dictated case by case on the fanciful demands of the party filing the civil remedy notice. Such a declaration by this Court would render the "cure" provisions of section 624.155(3)(d) meaningless.

2000, they had no intention of settling this claim on the basis of their original demand (if they ever truly had any intention of settling the case on that basis, in the first place). GEICO had attempted to contact Roe on multiple occasions after the initial tender of the \$300,000.00 policy limits in an effort to discuss his property damage demands and to resolve the claim. Roe failed to return a single telephone call, respond to a single letter or otherwise make any effort whatsoever to negotiate a settlement of Macola's claim. To the extent that Macola and Quigley contend that GEICO had an obligation to correct the circumstances of the alleged claim of bad faith by attempting to settle the claim on the basis of Roe's original demand, it is respectfully submitted that the record reveals abundant evidence that GEICO did exactly that. GEICO's inability to successfully resolve Macola's claim despite repeated telephone calls and letters to Roe underscores the folly in setting forth a standard that allows the cure provision of section 624.155 to be defeated at the whim of a third party plaintiff and her attorney, both of whom stand to benefit greatly by insuring that no cure is effectuated. 9,10

-

⁹ Justice Alderman, in his concurring opinion in <u>Gutierrez</u>, also recognized the illogic of plaintiff's argument when he stated, "[i]n the 'Alice-in-Wonderland' world created by the <u>Thompson</u> rule, it is to the injured party's benefit if the insurer breaches its duty to its insured and to his detriment if there is no breach. This is so since, if the insurer settles, the Plaintiff will receive no more than the policy limits, but if it does not, the Plaintiff may end up with both the policy limits and an excess judgment." <u>Gutierrez</u>, 386 So.2d at 786.

Both Macola and Quigley appear to have conceded that payment of a potential future excess judgment cannot be the standard by which the insurer's "cure" is measured after a lawsuit has been filed but before any judgment has been entered. Not only is it unknown whether an excess judgment will enter, but the amount of the judgment is incapable of determination. *See* Macola Principal Brief, p.21; *see also* Quigley Principal Brief, p.22. Consequently, all parties agree that this Court should not adopt a cure standard that requires the carrier to pay some estimated figure for a potential excess judgment that has yet to be entered.

Correspondingly, this Court should not adopt a standard that requires the carrier to pay, prejudgment, whatever the third party claimant demands. This proposition was directly confronted and soundly rejected in <u>Talat</u>, in which United States Magistrate Judge Glazebrook stated:

The Court rejects as unsupported Talat's contention that the insurer must not only pay the claim within the 60 day window, but must also pay all compensatory damages that flow from any delay in settling the claim. § 624.155 does not impose on an insurer the obligation to pay whatever the insured demands. The 60 day window is designed to be a cure period that will encourage payment of the underlying claim, and avoid unnecessary bad faith litigation. Surely, an insurer need not immediately pay 100% of the damages claimed to flow from bad faith conduct in order to avoid the chance that the insured will succeed on a bad faith cause of action. If the insurer may avoid a bad faith action only by paying in advance every penny of the

¹⁰ Both the Estate of Quigley and his surviving widow are judgment proof and without the ability to satisfy the large judgment obtained by Macola. Macola's only avenue for recovery of the excess judgment is a finding of bad faith against GEICO.

damages that it faces if it loses at trial, the insurer would have no reason to pay. Furthermore, few insureds would restrict their demands to compensatory damages. There is no reason why insureds would not demand also the advance payment of punitive damages and attorney's fees. § 624.155(2)(d) would have no effect or purpose under such an interpretation. The law does not support such an expansive and illogical reading of Fla. Stat. Ann. [(1990),] § 624.155(2)(d).

<u>Talat</u>, 753 So.2d at 1282 (quoting Judge Glazebrook's opinion in <u>Talat</u>, 952 F.Supp.773, 778 (M.D. Fla. 1996), aff'd, 217 F.3d 1318 (11th Cir.2000)).

It is clear from the foregoing analysis that the standard by which the insurer's "cure" under section 624.155 is measured cannot be compliance with the original settlement demand, or payment of some undetermined and unknown excess judgment, or payment of whatever the third party claimant or insured demands in the notice. The only logical and workable standard to apply is the policy limits. This Court recognized the logic of this reasoning in <u>Talat</u> when it stated:

When one reads the civil remedy statute in context and with the understanding that it is in derogation of the common law, it is plain that the Legislature intended the notice to the Department to serve as a basis for the Department to assist in the settling of claims and to monitor the insurance industry. It also is plain that the 60 day period was a time in which the insurer could act to "cure" a violation of subdivision (1)(a) or (b) about which it had been served notice. It naturally follows that for there to be a "cure," what had to be "cured" is the non-payment of the contractual amount due the insured. In the context of a first-party insurance claim, the contractual amount due the insured is the amount owed pursuant to the express terms and

_

¹¹ Section 624.155(2)(d) has since been renumbered as (3)(d).

conditions of the policy after all of the conditions precedent of the insurance policy in respect to payment are fulfilled.

Talat, 753 So.2d at 1283.

In addition to this Court's analysis and interpretation of section 624.155 in the first party context in <u>Talat</u>, we also have the benefit of the Fifth DCA's analysis of section 624.155 in a third party case in <u>Clauss</u> in a **prejudgment** context and the Third DCA's analysis of section 624.155 in a third party case in the **postjudgment** context in Hollar.

In <u>Clauss</u>, the Court held that a prejudgment tender of the policy limits within 60 days of service of a civil remedy notice in a third party context cured any claim for statutory bad faith by the insured or third party claimant. The insured had a bodily injury/property damage liability policy with Fortune Insurance Company ("Fortune"). On June 22, 1985, the insured ("Forrester") and the plaintiff ("Clauss") were involved in an accident. Clauss' attorney sent a letter to Fortune's adjuster on July 15, 1985, demanding that Fortune tender policy limits within twenty (20) days. Upon receiving a second demand letter from Clauss' attorney, Fortune requested the plaintiff's medical records and indicated that it wanted to tender the policy limits after it verified the extent of Clauss' injuries. By August 16, 1985, Fortune sent a letter to the plaintiff's attorney and enclosed the

policy limits and a release form. Clauss' attorney refused to accept Fortune's tender because the plaintiff had already filed suit against the insured. ¹²

Fortune filed a declaratory action seeking a declaration that it had acted in good faith and a determination of whether section 624.155, Florida Statutes, had preempted the common law bad faith action. Clauss, proceeding under an assignment of rights from Forrester, filed an answer and a counterclaim seeking damages for Fortune's alleged breach of its duty to act fairly and honestly toward its insured, Forrester, under common law and statutory claims for bad faith.

In addressing Clauss' allegation under section 624.155 that Fortune had acted in bad faith toward its insured Forrester by not settling Clauss' claim on the terms of Clauss' original demand, the Fifth DCA stated:

The trial court properly determined that the tender of the policy limits satisfied the requirement in section 624.155(2). Clauss first sent Fortune a demand for the policy limits on July 15, 1985. On August 15, 1985, Clauss sent notice to Fortune and the Department of Insurance that he was bringing a suit for bad-faith failure to settle; on August 16, 1985, Fortune tendered the policy limits to Clauss. Fortune corrected "the circumstances giving rise to the violation" by timely tendering the policy limits. The timely tender of the policy limits corrected any possible allegations of bad faith; hence Fortune was not liable for the excess judgment under section 624.155.

<u>Clauss</u>, 523 So.2d at 1179.

29

¹² Clauss filed suit against Forrester on August 15, 1985. A final judgment was entered in favor of Clauss in the amount of \$314,000.00 Thereafter, Forrester filed bankruptcy and assigned his rights to Clauss.

In fully understanding the Fifth DCA's holding in Clauss, it is critical to note that no excess judgment existed at the time Clauss made his initial policy limits demand on July 15, 1985. More importantly, no excess judgment existed on August 16, 1985, when Fortune tendered its policy limits to Clauss. Clauss' CRN had been served on August 15, 1985. Thus the CRN was served after the original demand allegedly had not been met, but *before* the excess judgment entered. By tendering the policy limits on August 16, 1985 – one day after the CRN was sent to Fortune – the Fifth DCA declared that Fortune had "corrected the circumstances giving rise to the violation by timely tendering the policy limits." See id. at 1179. Equally as important, the Fifth DCA determined that because Fortune had tendered the policy limits in response to the CRN within the 60-day window of opportunity to cure Clauss' allegations of bad faith, Fortune was not liable for the excess judgment entered against its insured, Forrester. The Fifth DCA's analysis and conclusion is eminently correct, accords with the principles of Talat, and comports with due process of law. As clearly indicated in Clauss, the objective standard for "cure" in a prejudgment context, whether the claim is a first party claim or a third party claim, is tender of the policy limits within the 60 day window of opportunity to cure.

In <u>Hollar</u>, the Third DCA was presented with a situation in which the insureds, the Hollars, filed a CRN against State Farm Insurance Company ("State

Farm") after an excess judgment had been entered against the Hollars. The Hollar opinion provides little information regarding the factual background of the action and the posture of the parties at the time the CRN was served. The initial brief that the Hollars filed with the Third DCA in Hollar, however, clarifies the position of the parties at the time the CRN was served and allegedly cured. The Hollars' initial brief states that the CRN pursuant to section 624.155 was served on State Farm on September 27, 1998. State Farm thereafter tendered its policy limits of \$10,000.00 on November 17, 1988. The excess judgment for which the Hollars sought recovery was entered three (3) years earlier in March 1985. See the Hollars' Initial Brief, pp. 3-4; see also, State Farm's Answer Brief, p. 3. 13 In rejecting State Farm's reliance on Clauss, supra, the Third District pointed out that "in Clauss, unlike the instant case, no award in excess of policy limits was sought by the insured." Hollar, 572 So.2d at 939. Because the CRN was not served until after an excess judgment had been entered against Hollar for an amount several hundred thousand dollars in excess of the available policy limits, the Third District correctly determined that an attempt by State Farm to tender solely the policy limits could not satisfy Hollar's claim of bad faith and that a factual determination

⁻

Pursuant to Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure 28(j), Eleventh Circuit Rule 28-4, and Eleventh Circuit Internal Operating Procedures 6, GEICO submitted and the Eleventh Circuit docketed copies of most of the briefs submitted in <u>Hollar</u>, 572 So.2d 937 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) (collectively, "<u>Hollar</u> briefs"). Copies of the Hollar briefs are included in GEICO's Appendix submitted in support hereof.

must be made by the trier of fact to determine whether State Farm's claims handling conduct should require it to pay the full amount of the excess judgment. Importantly, at the time the 60 day window of opportunity to cure was opened for State Farm, an excess judgment already existed. In order to take advantage of its opportunity to cure, State Farm was required to pay the full amount of the excess judgment against its insured. This is not the situation that existed in <u>Clauss</u> and likewise is not the situation that exists in the instant cases.¹⁴

As the discussion above illustrates, <u>Clauss</u> and <u>Hollar</u> are not in conflict. <u>Clauss</u> clearly establishes that the objective standard by which an insurer may avail itself of the statutory opportunity to cure within the 60 day notice period is the policy limits if the CRN is served **before** an excess judgment is entered. <u>Hollar</u>, on the other hand, clearly establishes that once an excess judgment has entered, a CRN filed **after** the entry of an excess judgment may be cured only by the payment of the excess judgment.

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